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The Joseph Jeffrey House, built in the early eighteenth century, 
is located on a nine - and-a-half-acre tract -karder iitg-- sout-h on-Sawmill 
Pond in rural Charlestown. The site is heavily wooded, especially 
around its perimeters, and a low stone wall bounds the property to 
the west, along Town House Road. The southerly-sited house and an 
early twentieth-century carriage house are located approximately two 
hundred feet east of the road on an elevated clearing in the midst of 
handsome early twentieth-century gardens, and just south of Sawmill 
Brook, which flows west from the pond over a dam, stand the foundations 
of an early eighteenth-century sawmill, now much deteriorated.

The Jeffrey House, built in at least two stages, consists of a 
one-and-a-half-story, gambrel-roof, center-chimney frame structure, 
twenty-eight by forty feet, joined at the northeast to a smaller 
one-story, gable-roof ell. A low, square (twenty-eight by twenty- 
eight feet) fieldstone foundation supports the eastern part of the 
building, while more finished quarried granite sill stones lie under 
the western, twenty-eight-by-twelve-foot portion. Except for the 
clapboarded west wall, the house is sheathed in weathered natural 
wood shingle on walls and roof. The five-bay facade has a central 
entrance, with a small transom light, flanked by six-over-nine, double- 
hung sash windows . Windows on the other walls are similar, except for 
the six-over-six windows under splayed lintels on the west wall. Shed 
dormers with casement windows have been added in this century; three 
on the facade and one on the north side. A modern, six-over-six triple 
window is located in the attic story of the east wall, and a similar 
quadruple complex--with one blind section--is centered on the north 
wall. The ell has irregular fenestration.

The first floor arrangement of the interior is now the standard, 
mid-eighteenth-century five-room plan which gives little indication 
of the earlier four-room plan with off-center chimney. The front door 
opens into a small hall with a single-turn staircase, which runs along 
the face of the chimney. Under the stairway is a filled-in firebox 
and a hearthstone. To the east and west of the stairhall are two 
approximately sixteen-four-square chambers, each with a fireplace. 
The east chamber has an exposed summer beam--not chamfered--and 
joists, cased corner posts. The bevel wainscoting and chimney breasts 
are fine examples of mid-eighteenth-century paneling found in other 
South County dwellings. The south wall of the east chamber has a 
floor-to-ceiling crack in the plaster about four feet from the 
southeast corner post, and beneath/the plaster portions of the lathe 
have been patched across an approximately three-foot-wide space; 
further, the original floor boards have been patched in this area. 
The west chamber also has cased corner posts, and a simple, Federal 
mantel surrounds the fireplace, which has one-piece side jambs of

(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Joseph Jeffrey House, built on land held by the Narragansett 
Indians until the end of the eighteenth or beginning of the nineteenth 
century, is an important Rhode Island architectural and cultural re­ 
source. The eighteenth-century evolution of its form and its condition 
make the house significant to the history of Rhode Island architecture, 
for while the structure displays all the earmarks of a typical five- 
room-plan dwelling, structural evidence points to an earlier, less- 
prevalent form. Its early ownership and the contemporary activity at 
the nearby sawmill are further revealing of colonial Rhode Island 
social history.

The basic original form of the house is evinced by its structure. 
The twenty-eight-foot square fieldstone foundation under the eastern 
portion of the main block, the location of posts at the corners of 
this foundation, the framing of the eastern portion, and the enumeration 
of the rafter sets indicate that the original dwelling was twenty-eight 
feet square with its chimney off center near the western end of the 
structure. The location of the chimney, the filled-in firebox in the 
entry hal! 5 and the use of more finished members and a Federal mantel 
in the west chamber fireplace—suggesting a later date for this fire­ 
place—posit an original configuration similar to those of dwellings 
built in Newport and in South County during the second quarter of the 
eighteenth century (see plan of the Townsend House, Continuation Sheet 4)

While the house follows this general plan, its particular original 
scheme is open to question. The repaired lathes and floorboards on 
the south wall of the east chamber suggest this location for an earlier 
entrance, but the placement of beams and joists in the ceiling precludes 
the location of a staircase to the second story in this room. The 
stairs could easily have been located in the northeast chamber--a 
location similar to that in the Townsend House in Newport (see plan, 
Continuation Sheet 4-)--but later construction in that location com­ 
pletely obscures any structural evidence for this conjecture.

Sometime in the late eighteenth or early nineteenth century, the 
house was expanded twelve feet to the west and assumed its present 
form. Both the style of the mantel and the use of splayed-lintel win­ 
dows in the west wall support this later dating.

(See Continuation Sheet #4)
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The property is bounded on the north by Saw Mill Pond and on the 
west by Old Mill Road. Southern and eastern boundaries are 
indistinct because of the dense woods that grow in these areas.
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quarried and hand-dressed granite unlike the split-surface ledge stone 
in the rest of the chimney. The west chamber contains two "corner 
posts," approximately three feet west of the room's east wall, and 
an "end" girt in the ceiling connects them and continues through to 
the post in line on the rear wall of the house (see plan). Parti­ 
tions in the rear portion of the main block have been removed, leaving 
a small room in the northeast corner and a large room occupying the 
remaining space. In the rear room, a large cooking fireplace, with 
a baking oven in its rear wall, is surrounded by simple bolection 
molding. The interior of the ell reflects changes effected in the 
twentieth century, but its corner posts reflect the early origins of 
this portion of the house.

The staircase terminates at the second story in a hall which gives 
access to three chambers, two on the west and one on the east. The 
chimney, exposed on two sides in the hall, rakes sufficiently to the 
north to allow a two-foot-wide passage between the staircase and the 
chimney. The knuckle beams and tie beams for the roof truss are 
exposed in the large east chamber, and a large hearthstone (approximately 
fifty-six inches long) remainsj in the floor in front of a filled-in 
firebox in the room's west wall. In the simple, unembellished west 
chambers, the posts which carry the knuckle beams of the roof frame 
rest on the "end" girts evident in the rooms on the first floor; the 
knuckle beam ends at these posts, and a laff joint above the post was 
used to extend the knuckle beam twelve feet to the west wall.

In the peak section of the gambrel roof, the rafter sets in the 
east side of the building are marked in Roman numerals with a lumber 
scribe. The rafter pairs are numbered from I at the east wall to 
VIII at the twenty-eight-foot mark. The remaining rafters are also 
marked in Roman numerals, but with a struck chisel beginning with I 
at the west wall and running east to IV.
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The Jeffrey House is thus important not only as a well-preserved 
eighteenth-century rural dwelling, but also as a fine example of 
evolutionary expansion of a residential structure. Few known con­ 
temporary houses so fully evince the use of two standard eighteenth- 
century plans or demonstrate so graceful a transition from the earlier 
to the later form. Further study of this house during the imminent 
restoration by the owners will no doubt reveal more information of 
the structure's early form and evolution.

The early history of the activity at the nearby sawmill and at the 
house remains obscure, but land records, nineteenth-century histories, 
and local tradition strongly indicate that both structures were built 
by Narragansett Indians who retained control of the site until around 
1800. The probable Indian involvement sheds interesting light on early 
colonial history.

In 1709, an approximately nine-square-mile tract, including this 
property, was set aside as a reservation for the Narragansett Indians 
(this area, the Historic Village of the Narragansett Indians, was 
entered in the National Register in 1973). Until 1769, the lands were 
owned and controlled by the Chief of the Narragansetts, advised by 
a tribal council;1 individual parcels were granted to tribal members 
for their own use, but deed transfers were not recorded, and the land 
remained legally in the hands of the Chief. In 1769, an insurgent 
council deposed King Tom and his council and assumed authority within 
the tribe to transfer land.

Joseph Jeffrey had been a member of Thomas (King Tom) Ninigret's 
advisory council, and the land on which his house stands was granted 
to him by King Tom. Jeffrey retained the property through the 1769 
insurgency, but appears to have lost it while he was fighting with the 
Continental Army during the Revolution, for he accused the insurgent 
council in 1785 of expropriating his land without cause.^

ln The role and powers of the council are unclear and almost impossible 
to define in the period before 1769....it seems that...the council 
acted merely as an advisory body not as a governing body with veto

9powers..." Glenn LaFantasie, Letter, 12 November 1977) 
Petition of the Narragansett Indians, 1785, Rhode Island Historical 
Society Library

(See Continuation Sheet #6)
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Jeffrey, an important member of the Narragansett Tribe, carried 
his livelihood as a wheelwright and sawyer. These professions were 
common among the Narragansetts, but Jeffrey appears to achieved a 
greater level of proficiency and success than many of his fellow 
tribesmen. This success and position within the Tribe is reflected 
in Jeffrey's house: while the Narragansett Indians had begun to adopt 
English cultural standards by the second quarter of the eighteenth 
century, their acculturation was a gradual process. The sophistication 
of the Jeffrey House demonstates an early, conscious, and proficient 
use of American colonial building forms.

This early acceptance of the colonists' cultural standards by 
an important member of the indigenous population is well represented 
by the Jeffrey House and sawmill site. The property's importance 
to both social and architectural history makes it a significant re­ 
source worthy of inclusion in the National Register of Historic 
Places.


